
 

Page 1 of 3 

    
    
      

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Be Courteous - TURN OFF your cell phones and pagers while the meeting is in session. 
 
OPENING 
 
CALL TO ORDER & PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
ROLL CALL (Edwards, Gallian, Hundley, Agrimonti, Cook) 
 
1. COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC 
At this time, members of the public may comment on any item not appearing on the agenda.  It is recommended 
that you keep your comments to three minutes or less.  Under State Law, matters presented under this item 
cannot be discussed or acted upon by the City Council at this time.  For items appearing on the agenda, the 
public will be invited to make comments at the time the item comes up for Council consideration.  Upon being 
acknowledged by the Mayor, please step to the podium and speak into the microphone.  Begin by stating and 
spelling your name. 
 
2. MEETING DEDICATIONS 
 
3. PRESENTATIONS – None Scheduled 
 
4. CONSENT CALENDAR/AGENDA ORDER – CITY COUNCIL 
All items listed on the Consent Calendar are considered to be routine and will be acted upon by a single motion.  
There will be no separate discussion of these items unless members of the Council, staff, or public request 
specific items to be removed for separate action.  At this time Council may decide to change the order of the 
agenda. 
 
Item 4A: Waive Further reading and Authorize Introduction and/or Adoption of Ordinances 

by Title Only.  (Standard procedural action - no backup information provided) 
 
Item 4B: Approval of the Minutes of the November 16, 2015 City Council Meeting. 
  Staff Recommendation:  Approve the minutes. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CONCURRENT REGULAR MEETINGS OF THE 
SONOMA CITY COUNCIL 

& 
SONOMA CITY COUNCIL AS THE SUCCESSOR AGENCY TO THE 

DISSOLVED SONOMA COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT AGENCY 
 

Community Meeting Room, 177 First Street West, Sonoma CA 
 

Monday December 7, 2015 
6:00 p.m. 

**** 
AGENDA 

City Council 
David Cook, Mayor 

Laurie Gallian, Mayor Pro Tem 
Madolyn Agrimonti 

Gary Edwards 
Rachel Hundley 

 



 

Page 2 of 3 

5. CONSENT CALENDAR/AGENDA ORDER – CITY COUNCIL AS SUCCESSOR AGENCY 
All items listed on the Consent Calendar are considered to be routine and will be acted upon by a single motion.  
There will be no separate discussion of these items unless members of the Council, staff, or public request 
specific items to be removed for separate action.  At this time Council may decide to change the order of the 
agenda. 
 
Item 5A: Approval of the Portions of the Minutes of the November 16, 2015 City Council 

Meeting Pertaining to the Successor Agency. 
  Staff Recommendation:  Approve the minutes. 
 
6. PUBLIC HEARING 
 
Item 6A: Discussion, consideration, and possible introduction of an ordinance amending 

Title 18 of the Sonoma Municipal Code (Sign Regulations).  (Associate Planner) 
  Staff Recommendation:  Introduce the ordinance. 
 
7. REGULAR CALENDAR – CITY COUNCIL 
(Matters requiring discussion and/or action by the City Council) 
 
Item 7A: City Council Reorganization (Selection of Mayor and Mayor Pro Tem). (City 

Manager) 
  Staff Recommendation:  Council discretion. 
 
Item 7B: Discussion, consideration, and possible action to approve a preferred alternative 

to the City Watersheds Proposition 1E Grant for Drainage Improvements.  (Public 
Works Director/City Engineer) 

  Staff Recommendation: Receive a presentation and approve a proposed drainage 
improvement preferred alternative along First St. West for inclusion in the grant 
amendment, which recommends including flood improvements that will convey the 25-
year storm event, removal of drainage channel constrictions, installation of 
underground culvert/pipe conveyance covered to grade, pavement rehabilitation of 
First St. West, provision for pedestrian/bicycle accessibility, and installation of low-
impact development features to capture/filter street stormwater runoff. 

 
8. REGULAR CALENDAR – CITY COUNCIL AS THE SUCCESSOR AGENCY 
(Matters requiring discussion and/or action by the Council as the Successor Agency) 
 
9. COUNCILMEMBERS’ REPORTS AND COMMENTS 
 
10. CITY MANAGER COMMENTS AND ANNOUNCEMENTS INCLUDING ANNOUNCEMENTS 

FROM SUCCESSOR AGENCY STAFF 
 
11. COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC  
At this time, members of the public may comment on any item not appearing on the agenda 
 
12. ADJOURNMENT 
 
I do hereby certify that a copy of the foregoing agenda was posted on the City Hall bulletin board on 
December 3, 2015.   Gay Johann, Assistant City Manager/City Clerk 
 
Copies of all staff reports and documents subject to disclosure that relate to any item of 
business referred to on the agenda are normally available for public inspection the Wednesday 



 

Page 3 of 3 

before each regularly scheduled meeting at City Hall, located at No. 1 The Plaza, Sonoma CA.  
Any documents subject to disclosure that are provided to all, or a majority of all, of the 
members of the City Council regarding any item on this agenda after the agenda has been 
distributed will be made available for inspection at the City Clerk’s office, No. 1 The Plaza, 
Sonoma CA during regular business hours. 
 
If you challenge the action of the City Council in court, you may be limited to raising only 
those issues you or someone else raised at the public hearing described on the agenda, or in 
written correspondence delivered to the City Clerk, at or prior to the public hearing. 
 
In accordance with the Americans With Disabilities Act, if you need special assistance to 
participate in this meeting, please contact the City Clerk (707) 933-2216. Notification 48-hours 
before the meeting will enable the City to make reasonable arrangements to ensure 
accessibility to this meeting.  



 

 

City of Sonoma 
City Council 

Agenda Item Summary 

 
City Council Agenda Item: 

 
Meeting Date: 

 
4B 
 
12/07/2015 

 

Department 

Administration 

Staff Contact  

Gay Johann, Assistant City Manager/City Clerk 

Agenda Item Title 

Approval of the Minutes of the November 16, 2015 City Council Meeting. 

Summary 

The minutes have been prepared for Council review and approval. 

Recommended Council Action 

Approve the minutes. 

Alternative Actions 

Correct or amend the minutes prior to approval. 

Financial Impact 

N/A 

Environmental Review Status 

   Environmental Impact Report    Approved/Certified 
   Negative Declaration    No Action Required 
   Exempt    Action Requested 
   Not Applicable  

Attachments: 

 Minutes 
 

Alignment with Council Goals:  N/A 

 

cc:  N/A 

 

 



DRAFT MINUTES 

November 16, 2015, Page 1 of 8 

    
    
      

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

5:00 P.M. – SPECIAL MEETING - CLOSED SESSION 

 
Mayor Cook called the meeting to order at 5:00 p.m.  No one from the public was present to 
provide public testimony on the closed session items.  The Council recessed into closed session 
with all members present.  City Manager Giovanatto, Building Official Wirick and City Attorney 
Walter were also present. 
 
CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL—ANTICIPATED LITIGATION 

Initiation of litigation pursuant to paragraph (4) of subdivision (d) of Section 54956.9 of the Cal. 
Gov't Code.  Number of potential cases:  One. 

REPORT ON CLOSED SESSION 
 

Mayor Cook reported that direction had been given to staff. 
 

6:00 P.M. – REGULAR MEETING OPENING 

 
Mayor Cook called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m.  Genevieve Cacciatore led the Pledge of 
Allegiance. 
 
CITY COUNCILMEMBERS PRESENT:  Edwards, Gallian, Hundley, Agrimonti and Mayor Cook 
ABSENT:  None 
 
OTHERS PRESENT:  City Manager Giovanatto, City Attorney Walter, Planning Director 
Goodison, Public Works Director Takasugi, Finance Director Hilbrants. 
 
Mayor Cook announced that the Council would receive public comments after Agenda Item 3B. 
 

1. COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC 

 
Sarah Ford, Georgia Kelly, Josette Eichar, Josette Eichar, Lisa  ?, Mara Lee Ebert, Bob 
Edwards, and Lynn Clary commented about the decision by the Sonoma Valley Unified School 
District to ban the use of gas powered leaf blowers and to further regulate the use of electric 

SPECIAL & REGULAR MEETINGS OF THE SONOMA CITY COUNCIL 
& 

CONCURRENT REGULAR MEETING OF SONOMA CITY COUNCIL AS THE 
SUCCESSOR AGENCY TO THE DISSOLVED SONOMA COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT AGENCY 
 

Community Meeting Room, 177 First Street West, Sonoma CA 
 

Monday, November 16, 2015 
5:00 p.m. Closed Session (Special Meeting) 

6:00 p.m. Regular Meeting 
**** 

MINUTES 

City Council 
David Cook, Mayor 

Laurie Gallian, Mayor Pro Tem 
Madolyn Agrimonti 

Gary Edwards 
Rachel Hundley 

 

 



DRAFT MINUTES 

November 16, 2015, Page 2 of 8 

blowers.  They urged the Council to adopt a compromise ordinance rather than place the leaf 
blower issue on the November 2016 ballot. 
 
Christine Mismer and Michelle Richey spoke about the need for affordable housing and 
requested a moratorium on rent increase and evictions.   
 

2. MEETING DEDICATIONS 

 
Clm. Agrimonti dedicated the meeting in the memory of Sonoma Valley Fire & Rescue Authority 
Firefighter Lino Michael Sottile. 
 
Mayor Cook announced that he would be getting married on January 9 and introduced his 
finance Kiersten Wallace and future step daughter Genevieve Cacciatore. 
 

3. PRESENTATIONS  

 
Item 3A: Proclamation declaring the weekend after Thanksgiving, November 27 – 30, 

2015, as “Shop Sonoma Days” 
 
Mayor Cook read aloud the proclamation and presented it to Laurie Decker and Patricia Schultz 
who described the activities and promotions planned for the holiday season. 
 
Item 3B: Presentation of Report on Options for Ending Homelessness in Sonoma 

County by 2025 
 
Jim Leddy and John Haig of the Sonoma County Community Development Commission made a 
presentation regarding a report entitled “Building HOMES: A Policy Maker’s Toolbox for Ending 
Homelessness”.  Mr. Leddy stated that the 2015 homeless count identified 3,107 homeless on a 
single night with 2,070 unsheltered.  There were thirteen unsheltered and fourteen sheltered in 
the City of Sonoma.  His report included information on the housing market, possible interim 
measures, financing, policy and land use options, and the cost to develop housing.  He said the 
solution to homelessness was permanent housing.  Leddy stated that collaborative action could 
achieve the following goals and end homelessness by 2025:  Create 2,200 homeless-dedicated 
housing units, increase incomes from employment & benefits, and increase health care 
coverage rates.  Leddy stated that a work plan would be presented to the Board of Supervisors 
on December 8 and he looked forward to engaging with the Council in the future.   
 
Clm. Gallian asked what action Leddy was expecting from the Board when on December 8.  
Leddy responded that the policy had been approved and they would be seeking funding and 
staffing to implement the efforts outlined in the report. 
 
Clm. Edwards asked how many affordable units were in the pipeline currently.  Leddy 
responded that the countywide total was about three hundred and two. 
 
Clm. Agrimonti stated that the Health Action Committee discussed the need to include 
provisions for transportation and food in the plan.  She stated this was a great start to begin 
addressing the housing crisis. 
 
Mayor Cook invited comments from the public.  David Eichar stated that San Francisco was 
considering an increase to the number of affordable units required for new housing 



DRAFT MINUTES 

November 16, 2015, Page 3 of 8 

developments.  He stated that the previous direction by Council to staff to prepare an RFP for a 
consultant to analyze a proposed increase to the minimum wage had not been complied with or 
completed. 
 
Bob Edwards stated he realized State law prevented the City from enacting rent control and he 
encouraged the Council to work towards changing those laws to include single family homes.  
He also suggested the following to assist in addressing the housing needs:  1) Adoption of an 
eviction fee; 2) Employers, through the Chamber, to provide housing assistance to their 
employees; 3) Require a set aside of land for affordable housing for new vineyard development; 
4) Take advantage of the winter hotel vacancies by placing homeless in them on an emergency 
basis.   
 

4. CONSENT CALENDAR/AGENDA ORDER – CITY COUNCIL 

 
Item 4A: Waive Further reading and Authorize Introduction and/or Adoption of 

Ordinances by Title Only. 
Item 4B: Approval of the Minutes of the November 2, 2015 City Council Meeting. 
Item 4C: Approve Letter of Support for Russian River Water Association’s Concept 

to Establish a Manufacturer-Funded Collection and Disposal Program for 
Unwanted Drugs. 

Item 4D: Approval and ratification of the reappointment of Lisa Carlsson to the 
Cultural and Fine Arts Commission. 

Item 4E: Approve the Notice of Completion for the 2015 Citywide Slurry Seal Project 
No. 1501 constructed by Sierra Nevada Construction, Inc. and Direct the 
City Clerk to File the Document.  (Removed from consent, see below) 

Item 4F: Adopt a Complete Streets Policy Resolution. 
 
Clm. Agrimonti removed Item 4E.  The public comment period opened and closed with none 
received.  
 
It was moved by Clm. Gallian, seconded by Clm. Hundley, to approve the items remaining on 
the Consent Calendar.  The motion carried unanimously. 
 
Item 4E: Approve the Notice of Completion for the 2015 Citywide Slurry Seal Project 

No. 1501 constructed by Sierra Nevada Construction, Inc. and Direct the 
City Clerk to File the Document.   

 
Clm. Agrimonti stated her appreciation for this important program.  It was moved by Clm. 
Agrimonti, seconded by Clm. Hundley, to approve Item 4E.  The motion carried unanimously. 
 

5. CONSENT CALENDAR/AGENDA ORDER – CITY COUNCIL AS SUCCESSOR 
AGENCY 

 
Item 5A: Approval of the Portions of the Minutes of the November 2, 2015 City 

Council Meeting Pertaining to the Successor Agency. 
 
The public comment period opened and closed with none received. It was moved by Clm. 
Gallian, seconded by Clm. Agrimonti, to approve the Consent Calendar.  The motion carried 
unanimously. 
 



DRAFT MINUTES 

November 16, 2015, Page 4 of 8 

RECESS:  The meeting recessed for five minutes. 
 

6. PUBLIC HEARING 

 
Item 6A: Discussion, consideration and possible action to update City Fee Schedule 

based on FY 2015-2016 Operating Budget.   
 
Finance Director Hilbrants presented the proposed fee schedule update.  She stated that with 
the exception to fees established or limited by State law, all other fees were determined through 
a cost accounting analysis of actual costs the City incurs to provide the service.  Department 
Managers reviewed staff hours necessary to provide the service factored by the allowable 
overhead costs.  The direct-charge of fees in this manner, freed up general- purpose tax funds 
to be used for services, maintenance and facility costs which benefit the entire community. 
Hilbrants stated that after a number of fee reductions the overall impact of the annual 
recalculations reflect that most fees have increased approximately 10 – 15%.  Larger increases 
or decreases resulted from review of overhead allocations especially between general fund and 
enterprise funds or from reevaluation of staff hours expended for some services.  Fees and 
charges comprise approximately 2.75% of General Fund Revenue. 
 
Hilbrants reported the following 1)  Certain fees, such as Building-related fees and solar 
installation fees, were set by State Code and were not based on the cost of providing the 
service.  In many instances, these fees were not cost-covering and the City was unable to 
recover costs over the allowable levels.  2) Public Safety Services were provided to the City 
under contract.  Fees charged by the County of Sonoma [Police-related fees] and Valley of the 
Moon Fire District [Fire-related fees] on behalf of services provided to City residents were 
incorporated by reference.  Additional fees proposed for addition to water utility fees included:  
1) Water Service Turn Off / Turn On Fee to recover costs of staff time associated with turning on 
a new water account or turning off an account such as when a current occupant has moved out 
and a new occupant has moved in.  2)   A Water Deposit will be charged for all new accounts 
where previously it was only charge to renters. 
 
Clm. Gallian stated it was excellent that the City was keeping up with updating the fee schedule 
on a regular basis.   
 
Mayor Cook invited comments from the public.  David Eichar stated that if the appeal fee was 
too high it would discourage public participation in government.  He encouraged the Council to 
subsidize the fee and only charge about $250. 
 
Fred Allebach questioned if staff was already being paid why the City needed to charge a fee for 
them to do their job.  He suggested the appeal fee be $100 and the fee should be refunded if 
the appeal was upheld.  He questioned the City’s overhead rate. 
 
It was moved by Clm. Gallian, seconded by Clm. Edwards, to adopt the resolution entitled 
RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SONOMA AMENDING THE 
PREVIOUSLY ADOPTED SCHEDULE OF USER FEES, LICENSES AND PERMIT CHARGES 
FOR FISCAL YEAR 2015-2016.  Clm. Gallian stated there was some Council discretion 
regarding the appeal fee.  City Manager Giovanatto stated that the Council could reduce a fee 
based on a particular circumstance. 
 



DRAFT MINUTES 

November 16, 2015, Page 5 of 8 

Clm. Hundley stated that the appeal fee should be discussed during the next budget cycle. She 
added that she felt 10-15% seemed a bit high given the inflation rate and she hoped next time it 
would not be 10-15%. 
 
Mayor Cook confirmed that Council could reduce the appeal fee prior to adoption of the fee 
schedule.  City Manager Giovanatto stated that staff’s recommendation was based on actual 
cost; however, Council could establish a subsidized rate.  Mayor Cook stated that not all would 
have the means to pay the appeal fee and would like it addressed.  Clm. Edwards stated his 
support for Hundley’s suggestion to discuss it at budget time.  Being put to a roll call vote, the 
motion made by Clm. Hundley carried unanimously. 
 

7. REGULAR CALENDAR – CITY COUNCIL 

 
Item 7A: Discussion, consideration and possible action on a proposed amendment 

to the Management Plan for the Montini Preserve to allow the option of 
leashed dogs on trails within the Preserve, including consideration of a 
resolution making findings as required under the California Environmental 
Quality Act and direction to staff to submit a revised amendment to the 
Open Space District. 

 
Planning Director Goodison reported that Councilmembers previously expressed interest in 
allowing leashed dogs on trails within the Montini Preserve, an activity prohibited in the adopted 
Management Plan for the Preserve. In May 2014, the City Council reviewed a draft amendment 
to the Management Plan allowing leashed dogs on trails within the Preserve, along with a draft 
initial study evaluating potential environmental effects of the amendment. The initial study found 
that the potentially significant impacts associated with the proposed amendment could be 
reduced to less-than-significant levels with the implementation of identified mitigation measures. 
On a vote of 4-1, the Council directed staff to circulate the initial study for comment. On July 21, 
2014, following the close of the comment period, the Council held a public hearing, at the 
conclusion of which it voted to 4-1 to adopt findings for a mitigated negative declaration and 
direct staff to forward the amendment to the Open Space District.  On February 2, 2015, the 
Open Space District informed the City that the amendment application had been denied, citing 
four issues: 1) the District was concerned that the proposed enforcement measures lacked 
specificity; 2) the District requested a determination by a qualified biological consultant that the 
values of the Preserve (including habitat resources and public enjoyment) would be adequately 
protected; 3) the District stated that an amendment would only be approved on the condition 
that alternative western access be secured and in place prior to implementing any allowance for 
leashed dogs; and 4) the District requested a commitment to restoring the trail segment on 
State Parks property and north to the vista point to a natural condition in the event that the 
license allowing that segment was revoked. 
 
Goodison added that staff prepared a draft revised amendment addressing the issues raised by 
the Open Space District that the City Council reviewed on May 4, 2015. At that time, the Council 
gave direction to staff to revise the amendment. Those revisions had been made and staff is 
bringing it to City Council for review and direction.  Staff estimated the additional costs 
associated with implementing and managing an allowance for leased dogs to be between 
$37,000-$127,000 relating mainly to the resolution of the western trail access.  This included 1) 
Preparation of Baseline Report: $7,000; 2) Installation of fencing to protect sensitive areas: 
$5,000; 3) Securing western access: $25,000 - $115,000 (lot-line adjustment $25,000, Fifth 
Street connection $65,000 for trail construction plus $25,000 for the creation of handicapped 



DRAFT MINUTES 

November 16, 2015, Page 6 of 8 

parking and intersection improvements to Fifth Street West/Verano Avenue, plus $10,000 for 
the removal/restoration of the existing Fourth Street trail connection, plus $15,000 for plantings 
and fence installation required for wetland mitigation). 
 
Goodison stated that the because the revised amendment did not introduce new activities and 
included all of the mitigation measures previously identified in the Initial Study, as well as 
additional restrictions intended to provide an even higher level of protection sensitive resources 
within the Preserve, the previously-adopted negative declaration remained applicable. 
 
City Attorney Walter stated it was important for Council to understand that what was not before 
the Council was whether or not to allow dogs on Montini because the Council does not have 
that authority.  When the City accepted the title to the property it was already burdened by the 
Management Plan that had been in place for a number of years adopted by another agency.  It 
also accepted a conservation easement and a recreation covenant all of which significantly 
constrained the ability of the City to use the property.  The City was more or less a custodian of 
the property to hold it and manage it pursuant to the plans already in place one of which was the 
Management Plan which prohibits dogs.  The only thing before Council was whether or not 
Council wanted to propose a change to the Management Plan to the Open Space District Board 
with can either accept, reject or return it with additional conditions.  Staff drafted a proposed 
amendment to the plan and Council needs to decide if wants to submit the request to amend 
and if so, what should it look like. 
 
Clm. Hundley asked if Council was being asked to decide if the limitation on no dogs would be 
two days a week.  Goodison stated that the draft included the provision that dogs would be 
prohibited within the preserve two days a week but Council may want to change that. 
 
Mayor Cook invited comments from the public.  The following spoke in support of the 
amendment allowing leashed dogs on Montini:  Bob Edwards, Michelle Richey, Ellen Branley, 
Rich Lee, and Leslie Murphy. 
 
The following spoke in opposition to the amendment allowing leashed dogs on Montini:  David 
Segal, David Brown, James Nelson, Fred Allebach, Carol Marcus, Claudia Robins, Andrew 
Sawicki, Lynn Clary, Lisa ?, and Tierra Wells.  
 
Clm. Hundley thanked the public for taking the time to come out and speak on this matter.  She 
said there were a lot of great points on each side.  When she came on the Council there was 
already a momentum on this issue and she felt the feedback from the Open Space District was 
enough to give staff one more shot to put together a thoughtful and realistic proposal for what 
we actually could do.  Clm. Hundley stated she felt it was worth giving it one more shot and if 
the District was happy with the proposal there would still be a very long road ahead and 
weighing of different issues, she noted she was not convinced the trail was wide enough to have 
dogs.  She supported submittal of the proposal. 
 
Clm. Edwards said he was looking forward to the issue going away and to the decision by the 
Open Space District.  He noted that one of the issues of allowing or not allowing dogs was that 
of enforcement and then coming in to the meeting this evening, out in front of Police 
Department, was a big pile of dog manure.  He supported moving it forward so the Council 
could move on with more important things.  He compared the projected cost of opening up the 
trail for dogs to the cost of providing 4,096 nights of lodging for the homeless. 
 
Clm. Agrimonti said she was done with the issue. 



DRAFT MINUTES 

November 16, 2015, Page 7 of 8 

 
Clm. Gallian stated that she believed after sitting on the advisory committee for the Ag and 
Open Space District she has seen so many projects and kept waiting for Montini.  This western 
access was the biggest hurdle for the property to come forward and people who were in 
Congress in Washington DC had weighed in on the issue to make sure the western access 
happened.  She believed totally in the natural resources of the preserve, it was incredibly 
beautiful.    She added that she loved dogs but she wanted to preserve the particular prize that 
the City had and she would not be supporting the proposal because someone had to be a 
guardian for nature, conservation and stewardship. 
 
Mayor Cook stated this had been a big issue since before he was on the Council.  He said it 
was time to say “uncle – we lost” and apply our energy towards finding a place for the dogs to 
go.  The City needed tourism based on something other than wine; look to nature and a place to 
go with dogs.  Mayor Cook stated he was done with this issue and noted there were only thirty-
two staff members employed by the City and he did not want to spend more staff time on the 
issue.  The City’s hands were tied just like they were about the homeless.  Every time there is a 
State or Federal Election people don’t vote but when they vote for councilmembers it is over 
90%.  He followed this through because he felt the City had local control.  He wanted to see the 
dog friendly and community come together with a plan on what to do. 
 
Clm. Hundley stated that Council had directed staff to prepare this proposal six months ago and 
if Council was going to stop the process it should have happened before all the additional work 
effort took place.  It was moved by Clm. Hundley, seconded by Clm. Edwards, to submit the 
proposed amendment to the Open Space District.  Clm. Gallian stated that it was not that there 
had been no value in the exercise of putting the amendment before the Council, studying it had 
made it really clear to her.  Her reason for not wanting to put it forward was because of the 
western access and she wanted to preserve the Montini property.  Clm. Edwards stated he 
supported moving forward and let the process work out.  Mayor Cook felt enforcement would be 
a tough issue.  Clm. Edwards stated that the District would see that.  The motion failed with the 
following roll call vote:  AYES:  Hundley, Edwards.  NOES:  Agrimonti, Gallian, Cook. 
 

8. REGULAR CALENDAR – CITY COUNCIL AS THE SUCCESSOR AGENCY 

 

9. COUNCILMEMBERS’ REPORTS AND COMMENTS 

 
Clm. Agrimonti reported attendance at the SCTA meeting and announced her office hour.   
 
Mayor Cook invited all to attend the Plaza lighting on Saturday. 
 

10. CITY MANAGER COMMENTS AND ANNOUNCEMENTS INCLUDING 
ANNOUNCEMENTS FROM SUCCESSOR AGENCY STAFF 

 
City Manager Giovanatto reported that Sonoma County Housing Authority received and were 
reviewing seven responses for the affordable housing project on Broadway. 
 

11. COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC  

 
Fred Allebach congratulated Mayor Cook upon completion of his term as Mayor. 
 



DRAFT MINUTES 

November 16, 2015, Page 8 of 8 

12. ADJOURNMENT 

 
The meeting was adjourned at 9:05 p.m. in the memory of Sonoma Valley Fire & Rescue 
Authority Firefighter Lino Michael Sottile. 
 
I HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing minutes were duly and regularly adopted at a regular 
meeting of the Sonoma City Council on the          day of             2015. 
 
_____________________________ 
Gay Johann 
Assistant City Manager / City Clerk 
 
 



 

 

City of Sonoma 
City Council/Successor Agency 
Agenda Item Summary 

 
 City Council Agenda Item: 

 
Meeting Date: 

 
5A 
 
12/07/2015 

                                                                                            

Department 

Administration 

Staff Contact 

Gay Johann, Assistant City Manager/City Clerk 

Agenda Item Title 

Approval of the Portions of the Minutes of the November 16, 2015 City Council Meeting Pertaining to 
the Successor Agency. 

Summary 

The minutes have been prepared for Council review and approval. 

Recommended Council Action 

Approve the minutes. 

Alternative Actions 

Correct or amend the minutes prior to approval. 

Financial Impact 

N/A 

Environmental Review Status 

   Environmental Impact Report    Approved/Certified 
   Negative Declaration    No Action Required 
   Exempt    Action Requested 
   Not Applicable  

 

Attachments: 

See Agenda Item 4B for the minutes 

Alignment with Council Goals:  N/A 

cc:  NA 

 



  

 

City of Sonoma 

City Council 

Agenda Item Summary 

 
City Council Agenda Item: 

 
Meeting Date: 

 
6A 
 
12/07/2015 

Department 

Planning 

Staff Contact  

Wendy Atkins, Associate Planner 

Agenda Item Title 

Discussion, consideration, and possible introduction of an ordinance amending Title 18 of the 
Sonoma Municipal Code (Sign Regulations). 

Summary 

On June 3, 2009, at a joint meeting of the City Council and Design Review and Historic Preservation 
Commission (DRHPC), the DRHPC was tasked with revising the sign guidelines. Since that time, 
the DRHPC has had numerous public meetings to discuss the proposed changes to the sign 
guidelines. Sign makers, the real estate community, and the Economic Development Advisory 
Committee (EDAC) actively participated by making suggestions and providing comments. The 
changes to the sign regulations are meant to be business friendly by increasing the types of 
applications that can be reviewed and acted upon administratively, rather than requiring Commission 
review. On March 7, 2011, the City Council approved the first phase of modifications to the Sign 
Ordinance and on January 7, 2015, the second phase of modifications was approved.  

In January 2015, Planning staff, the DRHPC Chair, and the Economic Vitality Program Manager met 
with a concerned business owner regarding the regulations related to portable freestanding signs. 
After two public hearings, the DRHPC directed staff to modify the sign regulations to allow 
businesses located along private alleys that connect to the Plaza the ability to display portable 
freestanding signs in front of the business in the interior of an alley and added an allowance for 
administrative review of signs (that meet the size requirements), which incorporate a black dry erase 
board face. The proposed modifications to the Sign Ordinance would be implemented through a 
draft ordinance that has been prepared for Council review and adoption. 

Recommended Council Action 

Introduce the attached ordinance amending Title 18 (Sign Regulations) of the Sonoma Municipal 
Code. 

Alternative Actions 

1. Amend the ordinance prior to introduction. 

2. Refer back to the Design Review and Historic Preservation Commission with direction. 

Financial Impact 

The review of the Sign Ordinance is being accomplished through the normal operation of the 
Planning Department. 

Environmental Review Status 

   Environmental Impact Report    Approved/Certified 
   Negative Declaration    No Action Required 
   Exempt    Action Requested 
   Not Applicable  

Attachments: 

1. Supplemental Report 
2. Draft Ordinance 

Alignment with Council Goals:   

The update of the Sign Ordinance relates to the “Policy & Leadership” goal, as it bridges the gap 
between Sonoma businesses and the City by modifying the sign review regulations. 

cc:  DRHPC Sign Regulations Mailing List 

 



 

SUPPLEMENTAL REPORT 
 

Discussion, consideration and possible introduction of an Ordinance amending Title 18 of the 

Sonoma Municipal Code (Sign Regulations) 

 

For the City Council Meeting of December 7, 2015 

 

Background 

 

On June 3, 2009, at a joint meeting of the City Council and Design Review Commission (DRC), 

the DRC was tasked with revising the sign guidelines. Since that time, the Design Review and 

Historic Preservation Commission (DRHPC) has had numerous public meetings to discuss the 

proposed changes to the sign guidelines. Sign makers, the real estate community, and the 

Sonoma Valley Economic Vitality Partnership (SVEVP) actively participated by making 

suggestions and providing comments. The proposed changes to the sign regulations are meant to 

be “business friendly” by streamlining the sign review process and allowing for more 

administrative review of sign applications with less sign review by the DRHPC. On March 7, 

2011, the City Council approved the first phase of modifications to the Sign Ordinance and on 

January 7, 2015, the second phase of modifications was approved.  

 

Over the course of previous reviews of the Sign Ordinance, the DRHPC has worked with the 

City Council to establish a policy in which “generic” A-board signs (meaning of an A-frame 

design and fabricated from plastic) are subject to review by the DRHPC, while portable signs of 

a unique design may be approved administratively. This approach is obviously intended to 

discourage A-board signs having a generic design and to streamline the review process for those 

signs that take a more creative approach. In a recent meeting of the City Council, a local 

business-owner questioned this approach and asked that consideration be given to a process in 

which pre-approved portable freestanding sign designs would be established by the City so that a 

business-owner could employ them through an administrative review process. This was 

essentially the opposite of the current policy.   

 

On January 7, 2015, Kelso Barnet, Laurie Decker and Planning staff met with Sox de vine owner 

(Jeanette Fung). It was a productive meeting and it was agreed that the DRHPC should discuss 

modifying the Sign Regulations related to portable freestanding signs.  The following is a list of 

the DRHPC discussion items: 

 Consider allowing “alley” businesses that front the Plaza the ability to apply to display 

portable freestanding signs in front of the business in the interior of an alley (currently 

there is an exception to the Portable Freestanding Sign section that allows the Place des 

Pyrenees alley businesses to display portable freestanding signs on the sidewalk). 

 Discuss a more consistent approach the Portable Freestanding Signs section [allow 

provisions for alley businesses (consistent with the Plaza de Pyrenees) to display portable 

freestanding signs on the sidewalk or just allow alley businesses to display portable 

freestanding signs in front of the business in the interior of an alley]. 

 Discuss providing better guidelines on what types of portable freestanding signs are 

unique. 



Ultimately, the DRHPC directed staff to update the Sign Regulations to allow “alley” businesses 

that front the Plaza the ability to apply to display portable freestanding in front of the businesses 

in the interior of an alley and continued the allowance for the Place de Pyrenees businesses to 

display portable freestanding signs on the Plaza sidewalk. In addition, an allowance was added 

for administrative review of signs that meet the size requirements and incorporate a black dry 

erase board face. Staff and the Economic Vitality Program Manager will continue to develop a 

Portable Freestanding Sign Guideline brochure to help inform businesses of what is permitted 

and when a permit is required. The proposed modifications to the Sign Ordinance would be 

implemented through a draft ordinance that has been prepared for Council review and adoption. 

 

SVEVP Participation 

 

To help streamline the sign review process and promote a more positive business climate, the 

SVEVP has collaborated with the DRHPC on the following: 

 

 Developing an over-the-counter review option for A-board signs (approved by the Council in 

the 2011 modifications). 

 Created a handout with Frequently Asked Questions (FAQ) about signage, available on the 

City’s website and under the “Site Location” section of SonomaValley4BIZ.com. 

 Worked with the City of Sonoma Planning staff to revise the enforcement process so that 

when a sign violation has been reported and verified staff begins with a “first contact letter” 

and then a follow-up phone call rather than simply sending a violation letter. In addition, the 

portable freestanding sign enforcement letter was revised to use a more collaborative tone 

and to provide information on options and resources. 

 Expanded the Plaza Periphery Wayfinding project, previously funded by redevelopment to a 

total of seven locations. 

 

In addition, as noted above, the EDAC has played an important role in suggesting and reviewing 

the draft revisions to the Sign Ordinance that are now before the City Council. 

 

Summary of Changes 

 

The modifications to the Sign Ordinance that would be implemented by the attached ordinance 

are summarized in the table below. 
 

Summary of Proposed Changes 

Section Summary of Proposed Changes 

Portable freestanding signs 

(18.20.140.B) 

Adds the following statement: Including Portable freestanding signs consisting of a 

dry erase board face that features a black background. 

Portable freestanding signs 

[18.20.140.D. (1 and 2)] 

Adds the words “or alley” to allow for portable freestanding signs to be placed on a 

street or alley frontage. 

Portable freestanding signs 

(18.20.140.D.4) 

Adds the following statement: Portable freestanding signs for businesses located in 

alleys shall be located within five feet of the entrance of the alley business. 

Portable freestanding signs 

(18.20.140.D.6) 

Adds the words “except that each business located on an alley may be permitted to 

display one portable freestanding sign” to allow alley businesses to place portable 

freestanding signs on the alley in directly in front of the alley business. 



 

Financial Impact 

 

The review of the Sign Ordinance is being accomplished through the normal operation of the 

Planning Department. 

 

Recommendation 

 

Staff recommends that City Council introduce the attached Ordinance amending the City’s sign 

regulations. 



CITY OF SONOMA 
 

ORDINANCE NO.  XX-2015 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SONOMA 
AMENDING TITLE 18 OF THE SONOMA MUNICIPAL CODE BY AMENDING 

THE SIGN REGULATIONS AS THEY PERTAIN TO PORTABLE 
FREESTANDING SIGNS 

 
THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SONOMA DOES ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 
 
Section 1.  Title 18 of the Sonoma Municipal Code is hereby amended to read as follows 
(revisions indicated through the use of strikeouts and underlining).  

 

18.20.140 Portable freestanding signs. 

A. Intent. It is the intent of this section to minimize the use of portable freestanding signs in 

order to minimize visual clutter and conflicts on sidewalks and to ensure that when portable 

freestanding signs are allowed that they are harmonious with their surroundings and 

distinctive in their design and creativity. Portable freestanding signs shall be allowed only 

when approved by the planning director or his or her designee upon a finding that special 

circumstances exist regarding the applicant’s business location that require a freestanding 

portable sign. Examples of such special circumstances include, but are not limited to: (1) 

the business is not visible from the street on which it lies; (2) options for permanent signs 

have been exhausted; or (3) some other valid physical justification. Portable freestanding 

signs shall be designed so as to be compatible with the architecture of the building in which 

the applicant’s business is located and compatible with other buildings on the same block 

and in the same vicinity as the applicant’s business. Generic design, signs having an A-

frame design, prefabricated signs, and plastic material shall be discouraged and shall be 

subject to DRHPC review.  

B. Portable freestanding signs may be approved by the planning director or his or her 

designee anywhere in the city in conformance with this section except in commercial 

shopping centers with approved sign programs and on sidewalks surrounding the Plaza with 

the exception of the Place des Pyrenees. Including Portable freestanding signs consisting of 

a dry erase board face that features a black background. 

C. An applicant that moves his or her business to a new location must apply for a new 

approval if the applicant desires to place a portable freestanding sign at the new business 

location. Approval for a portable freestanding sign at one location is not transferable to 

another location. 



2 
 

D. The following limitations shall apply to portable freestanding signs: 

1.  If the lineal feet of street or alley frontage at the location at which an applicant 

desires to place a portable freestanding sign is less than 40 feet, the maximum 

allowable size of a freestanding sign shall be five square feet. The freestanding sign 

shall not exceed a maximum width of 24 inches and a maximum height of 48 inches. 

2.  If the lineal feet of street or alley frontage at the location at which an applicant 

desires to place a portable freestanding sign is 40 feet or greater, the maximum 

allowable size of a freestanding sign shall be six square feet. The freestanding sign 

shall not exceed a maximum width of 30 inches and a maximum height of 48 inches. 

3.  Portable freestanding signs shall be of stable construction and braced as necessary 

to prevent collapse or toppling. If a sign has wheels, the wheels must be capable of 

locking. 

4.  Portable freestanding signs shall be located on the property of the business which it 

advertises or on the sidewalk fronting that property. Portable freestanding signs for 

businesses located in alleys shall be located within five feet of the entrance of the 

alley business. Portable freestanding signs shall not be placed on the street. Portable 

freestanding signs located on sidewalks shall be located within two feet of the 

building frontage or the interior of a sidewalk. Portable freestanding signs shall be 

located so as not to obstruct pedestrian traffic or disabled person access and shall 

not be placed in a location that presents a hazard. A minimum sidewalk clearance of 

five feet shall be required. Portable freestanding signs shall not have any moving 

parts, projections, or lighting. 

5.  Only one portable freestanding sign shall be allowed per business. Portable 

freestanding signs authorized by the planning director or his or her designee shall 

not be counted against the number and aggregate sign area to which a property is 

otherwise entitled under this title. 

6.  No more than two portable freestanding signs shall be displayed at any time at one 

building or business property, except that each business located on an alley may be 

permitted to display one portable freestanding sign, except that the Place des 

Pyrenees alley businesses may be permitted to display a maximum of three portable 

freestanding signs at any one time at a building or business property. 



3 
 

7.  Portable freestanding signs shall be displayed only during business hours. 

8.  There shall be at least 10 feet between portable freestanding signs, except that the 

Place des Pyrenees alley businesses shall be permitted a four-foot spacing between 

portable freestanding signs. 

9.  As a condition to the authorization of portable freestanding signs by the planning 

director or his or her designee, the applicant shall be required to furnish to the city 

proof of insurance and to execute an agreement obligating the permittee to 

indemnify and hold the city harmless from any action, claim or expense that may 

occur as a result of the placement of the portable freestanding sign on any sidewalk 

or public right-of-way. Any person who fails to furnish the required proof of 

insurance and indemnification in connection with the placement of a portable 

freestanding sign shall be in violation of this chapter and the sign shall be subject to 

immediate removal by the city. 

10.  At such time as vehicular traffic is no longer permitted at the Place des Pyrenees, 

portable freestanding signs shall no longer be permitted. All authorizations for 

portable freestanding signs issued by the planning director or his or her designee 

shall immediately terminate and be of no further force or effect. All temporary 

freestanding signs placed at the Place des Pyrenees after the date traffic is no longer 

permitted shall constitute a violation of this chapter. 

E. Applications for portable freestanding signs that do not meet the limitations set forth 

above shall be subject to the review and approval of the DRHPC, which may, but is not 

required to, permit exceptions to the dimensional standards set forth above if it finds that: 

1.  The circumstances of the sign location or design necessitate the granting of such 

exceptions in order to provide adequate visibility, address unique site conditions, or 

provide for enhanced design quality or creativity; and 

2.  The proposed exception to dimensional standards is consistent with the intent of this 

section; and 

3.  The proposed exception to dimensional standards, if granted, would not result in the 

approval of a portable freestanding sign that is in excess of 72 inches in height. 

(Ord. 01-2015 § 1, 2015; Ord. 06-2013 § 3, 2013; Ord. 03-2011 § 1, 2011; Ord. 

2000-9 § 1, 2000. Formerly 18.20.017). 



4 
 

 
The foregoing Resolution was duly adopted this 7th day of December 2015, by the following 
vote: 
 

Ayes:    
Noes:    
Absent:   

 
 ______________________________  

       David Cook, Mayor 
 

ATTEST: 
 
 

___________________________________             
Gay Johann, Assistant City Manager/City Clerk 

 



 

 

City of Sonoma 
City Council 
Agenda Item Summary 

 
 City Council Agenda Item: 

 
Meeting Date: 

 
7A 
 
12/07/15 

                                                                                            

Department 

Administration 

Staff Contact 

Carol E. Giovanatto, City Manager 

Agenda Item Title 

City Council Reorganization 

Summary 

Each year the City Council conducts a reorganization by selecting from among its members a Mayor 
and Mayor Pro Tempore to serve for the upcoming year.  The Mayor presides at City Council meetings 
and serves as the official head of the City for ceremonial purposes.  The Mayor Pro Tempore performs 
the duties of the Mayor during the Mayor’s absence or disability.  This reorganization usually takes 
place at the first regular meeting in December. 
 

The selection process proceeds as follows:  Mayor Cook will ask for nominations for the position of 
Mayor.  To make a nomination, Council members need only state “I nominate ________”.   
Nominations do not require seconds; however, other members may express support of a nomination by 
making a seconding speech.  When there are no more nominations, Mayor Cook will declare 
nominations for the position of Mayor closed and will allow public comments, if any.  A roll call vote will 
then be taken beginning with the first nominee.  If that nominee receives a majority vote they are 
declared the winner and no additional votes are taken on the remaining nominees.  If a majority vote is 
not achieved for any of the nominees, the nomination and voting process will be repeated, voting on 
the nominees in the order of their nomination, until a candidate has received a majority vote.  The gavel 
is then turned over to the new Mayor who will call for nominations for Mayor Pro Tempore using the 
same process described above.  The Mayor will then take his/her place at the dais and assign the 
seating arrangement for the other Councilmembers. 
 

Suggested Process: 
1. Nominations for Mayor, public comment, vote 
2. Gavel is transferred to the new Mayor 
3. Nominations for Mayor Pro Tempore, public comment, vote 
4. Determine Council seating arrangement 
5. Presentation of gavel to outgoing Mayor & comments by him 
6. Comments by new Mayor & Mayor Pro Tem 
7. Receive additional comments from the public 

Recommended Council Action 

Council discretion 

Alternative Actions 

Council discretion. 

Financial Impact 

N/A 

Environmental Review Status 

   Environmental Impact Report    Approved/Certified 
   Negative Declaration    No Action Required 
   Exempt    Action Requested 
   Not Applicable  

Attachments: None 

 



 

 

City of Sonoma 
City Council 

Agenda Item Summary 

 
City Council Agenda Item: 

 
Meeting Date: 

 
7B 
 
12/7/2015 

 

Department 

Public Works 

Staff Contact  

Dan Takasugi, Public Works Director / City Engineer 

Agenda Item Title 

Discussion, consideration, and possible action to approve a preferred alternative to the City Watersheds 
Proposition 1E Grant for Drainage Improvements. 

 

Summary 

Areas of Sonoma Valley are at risk of flooding during large storms such as the 2005/2006 New Year’s Storm. 
Recent stormwater studies concluded that portions of Fryer Creek have the potential to overflow and cause 
flooding during large storms. The City Watersheds of Sonoma Valley Project, which has received $1.9 million in 
Proposition 1E (Disaster Preparedness and Flood Prevention Bond Act of 2006) grant funding, is a multi-benefit 
project being developed to help address local flooding, promote groundwater recharge, and enhance habitat 
along Fryer Creek.  The project is co-sponsored by the Water Agency, Sonoma Ecology Center, and the City. 
 
A major portion of the City Watersheds project was a groundwater recharge basin on the Montini preserve.  
During the planning process, engineering data showed that the groundwater recharge value at that site was 
poor.  Other sites for groundwater recharge were explored, but rejected for various reasons.  With preliminary 
approval from DWR, sites with flood prevention value were then explored.  One of the more flood-prone sites in 
the City results from the stormwater constrictions along First St. West.  This area also presents concerns for 
safety and pedestrian access.  Public comment on the drainage improvement options was taken at a public 
meeting on February 4, 2015 and again on November 19, 2015. 
 
While further analysis and public consultation may be desired, the deadline to substitute another grant-
compliant project (in place of the Montini recharge basin) is at hand.  Even with Council agreement of a 
drainage improvement alternative, the $1.9 million grant may still be subject to rescission by DWR. 

Recommended Council Action 

Receive a presentation and approve a proposed drainage improvement preferred alternative along First St. 
West for inclusion in the grant amendment, which recommends including flood improvements that will convey 
the 25-year storm event, removal of drainage channel constrictions, installation of underground culvert/pipe 
conveyance covered to grade, pavement rehabilitation of First St. West, provision for pedestrian/bicycle 
accessibility, and installation of low-impact development features to capture/filter street stormwater runoff. 

Alternative Actions 

   Council may approve other proposed drainage improvement alternatives or none. 

Financial Impact 

The drainage improvements, if approved in the proposed grant amendment, would be funded through the $1.9 
million Proposition 1E grant and Zone 3A match funding.  If the City chooses to include pedestrian and street 
maintenance improvements in the same project as the drainage improvements, then those may require 
Council-approved capital funding in future budget years. 

 

Environmental Review Status 

   Environmental Impact Report    Approved/Certified 
   Negative Declaration     No Action Required 
   Exempt     Action Requested 
   Not Applicable  

Attachments: 

    Supplemental Report 
    Meeting Notes from November 19, 2015 Public Outreach Meeting 
    Draft Resolution 

Alignment with Council Goals:   

Supports the Council Infrastructure Goal of providing reliable, safe, and effective infrastructure, increasing the 
promotion of walking. 

 



SUPPLEMENTAL REPORT 

 

Discussion, consideration, and possible action to approve a preferred alternative to the City 

Watersheds Proposition 1E Grant for Drainage Improvements  

 

For the City Council Meeting of December 7, 2015 

 

Background 

 

The Sonoma County Water Agency is collaborating with the City of Sonoma, Sonoma County 

Agricultural Preservation and Open Space District, and Sonoma Ecology Center to develop a 

multi-phased project (City Watersheds Project) to implement multiple-benefit watershed projects 

that reduce flood hazards and enhance groundwater recharge, while providing a range of other 

benefits to the watershed, such as improved water quality, ecosystem function, and water supply. 

 

The December 31, 2005 flood of record in the Sonoma Creek basin was a catalyst in heightening 

local awareness of existing flood hazards and the need to develop a reliable foundation for land 

use and flood management planning, as several million dollars’ worth of damage was incurred, 

including $2.4 million in the City of Sonoma.  Yet that 2005 storm was only a 10-year storm 

event.  The City Watersheds of Sonoma Valley project will address flood hazard reduction, water 

supply, water quality, habitat and ecosystem function, and climate change resilience goals within 

the City of Sonoma. 

 

The City Watersheds Project (Phase I) is focused on benefitting the Fryer Creek subwatersheds 

within and around the City of Sonoma.  Project elements include: development of a city-wide 

drainage master plan within the City of Sonoma, habitat restoration and sediment removal on 

various reaches of Fryer Creek, culvert replacement, storm drain improvements, public access 

trail extensions and interpretive sign, and installation of a stormwater detention basin to provide 

flood alleviation and groundwater recharge. 

 

Some areas of Sonoma Valley experience major flooding during storm events.  In addition, 

studies have identified areas in Sonoma Valley where groundwater levels are dropping.  The 

Sonoma County Water Agency and Sonoma Ecology Center are exploring initiatives that address 

both of these water management challenges by slowing and sinking stormwater into the ground 

to reduce flood risks while helping to recharge groundwater.  The Water Agency was awarded 

grant funding in the amount of $1,900,000 from the California Department of Water Resources, 

Stormwater Flood Management grant program, funded by Proposition 1E (Disaster Preparedness 

and Flood Prevention Bond Act of 2006) to help design and construct a project that could 

provide flood control benefits to the Valley.  This state grant funding is matched by $1,900,000 

in local funds and in-kind support from Sonoma County Water Agency and its partners, totaling 

$3,800,000.     

 

The Sonoma County Water Agency (which manages Flood Zone 3A in Sonoma Valley), the 

Sonoma County Agricultural Preservation and Open Space District, the City of Sonoma and the 

Sonoma Ecology Center evaluated a project that would have captured rainwater during large 



storms, allowing the water to slow and sink into the ground before going into Fryer Creek in the 

City of Sonoma, thereby enhancing recharge and reducing peak flood flows. 

 

A groundwater recharge component of the project was considered for the Montini Preserve.  

Ideally, this enhanced wetland would have held water for only a week or so after a big storm, 

allowing the water to slowly sink into the ground.  By preventing stormwater from immediately 

heading downstream, the project would reduce flood risk and help recharge the aquifer.  Site 

investigations and feedback from the neighbors proved that the Montini site is not geologically 

optimal for such a project, thus the Sonoma County Water Agency and Sonoma Ecology Center 

evaluated alternative locations for this component of the project.  After evaluation of many sites 

within the City’s Fryer Creek watershed, no alternative sites were found that would effectively 

enhance groundwater recharge within the parameters of the Proposition 1E grant and the limited 

time schedule to identify and analyze alternatives. 

 

With permission from the Department of Water Resources, the project partners explored sites 

that could meet the flood prevention criteria of the grant.  One such site is the open 550-foot 

channel along First St. West, between West Spain St. and Depot Park.  This channel has flooded 

its banks even during moderate storms, such as the recent storm event of December 11, 2014. 

 

The open channel along First St. West poses several concerns to City staff, including: 

 

 Flooding caused by constrictions in the open channel.  There are several constrictions 

in this channel, caused by the trash grate, undersized culverts, and impinging tree 

structure.  The localized flooding caused by these constrictions extends further south 

along the west side of the Plaza and south of West Napa St., adversely affecting 

businesses and residential properties. 

 

 Safety of pedestrians, vehicles, and maintenance staff due to channel flows.  During 

moderate storm events, the stormwater flow in the channel is quite fast and the top-

of-bank in the channel is not clearly visible when the floodwater tops its banks.  

Pedestrians, vehicles and maintenance staff could accidentally fall into this fast-

flowing channel, unable to visibly see the top-of-bank. 

 

 Maintenance of the trash grate at the lower end of this open channel.  Without 

continuous clearing of this trash grate during a storm event, the grate will become 

significantly obstructed with debris and will accentuate the flooding to the street.  

 

 Lack of safe pedestrian connectivity between Depot Park and the Plaza on the east 

side of First St. West.  The existing condition presents only a very narrow shoulder 

between the edge of pavement and the top of the open channel bank.  If two 

pedestrians are walking side-by-side, one pedestrian would likely be encroaching into 

the vehicular lane of traffic.  Although there is sidewalk on the west side of First St. 

West, there is a natural proximal desire to walk along the east side of First St. West 

between the Plaza and the many facilities in and around Depot Park, including the 

Veterans Memorial Building, Field of Dreams, the Depot Museum, the bicycle path 



to General Vallejo’s home, Arnold Field and Sonoma Stomper games, the Overlook 

trail, and auxiliary parking facilities near Depot Park. 

 

The City Watersheds project provides an opportunity to resolve many of these issues of concern.  

It also presents an opportunity for the City to simultaneously rehabilitate the highly-travelled 

section of First St. West adjacent to the open channel, which has amongst the lowest pavement 

condition rating of all streets in the City.  Such a concurrent street rehabilitation would need to 

be funded with Council-approved streets capital funding in future budget years, but the grant-

funded drainage work may address some street rehabilitation elements that would otherwise need 

to be funded solely by streets capital funding. 

 

The specific engineering details and exact configuration of the drainage improvements will be 

subject to further planning and design.  Scoping of the drainage improvements would intend to 

keep the costs within the amount of grant funding.  If the grant amendment is approved, the 

Water Agency will likely request that City staff take the lead in planning, design, and 

construction of these drainage and pavement improvements along First St. West. 

 

Public Meetings on this issue were held on February 4, 2015 and November 19, 2015 in Sonoma.  

The meetings were widely noticed, including door-to-door canvasing of the local neighborhood.  

The background of the City Watersheds project was presented, along with several alternatives to 

reduce the flood risk from this open channel.  Notes from the November 19th meeting are 

attached. 

 

The initial deadline to respond to the Department of Water Resources on alternative grant scope 

to replace the Montini Preserve recharge basin, has passed.  However, the time extension to 

present an alternative scope amendment is now at hand.  There is no assurance that the 

Department of Water Resources will not rescind the $1.9 million grant award, regardless of 

which improvement alternative the City prefers.  As such, Council approval of any alternative 

amounts to a proposal of a grant amendment.  In the absence of this grant funding, the City’s 

engineering standard street design would call for curb, gutter, and sidewalk improvements along 

the entire frontage to be funded primarily by new development over time.  The City does hold a 

recorded Deferred Improvement Agreement for such frontage improvements on one of the 

properties along the open channel. 

 

Alternatives 

 

Three alternatives have been developed to include in a grant amendment.  Each alternative 

provides a varying level of benefit and cost, and as such are not on equal standing. 

 

Each alternative proposes a large amount of stormwater detention at the Veteran’s Memorial 

Center, under its parking and overflow parking areas.  The feasibility of operational disruption 

during construction of such large detention facilities is still being discussed with the County 

Department of General Services and the associated Veteran’s organizations. 

 



All alternatives provide $350,000 for riparian habitat enhancements on Fryer Creek upstream of 

the MacArthur Street culvert.  None of the alternatives will provide for on-street parking along 

First St. West, as there is insufficient right-of-way width. 

 

All alternatives will result in increased Public Works maintenance workload to clean the large 

stormwater detention facilities.  Under Alternative 2, that workload would be offset by the 

decreased maintenance on the exposed channel and trash grate structure on First St. West. 

 

A brief description of the improvements in each alternative are summarized here: 

 

Alternative 1 (~$4.7M): 

- 6 acre-foot underground stormwater detention basin at the Veteran’s Center to mitigate a 

100-year storm event. 

- Minor channel improvements along First St. West. 

 

Alternative 2 (~$5.6M): 

- 3 acre-foot underground stormwater detention basin at the Veteran’s Center to mitigate a 

25-year storm event. 

- A 54-inch buried stormwater conveyance pipe along First St. West between Depot Park 

and the Trash Grate, effectively eliminating the deep roadside channel and trash grate. 

- Pavement Rehabilitation of First St. West. 

- A Class 1 Pedestrian/Bicycle pathway connecting the existing sidewalk ending at the 

Trash Grate to the City bicycle path at Depot Park. 

- A Low-Impact Development swale separating the Pedestrian/Bicycle pathway from the 

traffic along First St. West, while filtering/recharging stormwater and enhancing habitat. 

 

Alternative 3 (~$3.2M): 

- 3 acre-foot underground stormwater detention basin at the Veteran’s Center to mitigate a 

25-year storm event. 

- Minor channel improvements along First St. West. 

 

The higher estimated cost of Alternative 2 is primarily accounted for with the Pavement 

Rehabilitation of First St. West, which clearly needs City-funded street rehabilitation in the near 

future.  While the pavement rehabilitation not integral to a flood project, it would be prudent to 

construct such improvements during the installation of the 54-inch stormwater conveyance pipe 

to take advantage of duplicate earthwork and construction mobilization. 

 

Recommendation 

 

Amongst the three alternatives being considered to reduce flood risk from this open channel, 

City staff recommends the alternative (Alternative 2) that will include, flood improvements that 

will convey the 25-year storm event, removal of drainage channel constrictions, installation of 

underground culvert/pipe conveyance covered to grade, provision for pedestrian/bicycle 

accessibility and street tree frontage, installation of low-impact development features to 

capture/filter street stormwater runoff, and pavement rehabilitation of First St. West. 

 



 

1 
 

First Street West Flood Control Alternatives 
MEETING SUMMARY 
 
November 19, 2015 
 
NOTE:  Correction to the agenda:  City Council will hear this item on Dec. 7th  
 
WELCOME: Ann DuBay (Community & Govt Affairs, Sonoma County Water Agency) welcomed people 
and explained that the purpose of the meeting was to update neighbors and other stakeholders on the 
First Street West Flood Control Project, which is a component of the larger City Watersheds of Sonoma 
Valley Project. The input received will be included in the presentation to the Sonoma City Council on 
December 7. 
 
BACKGROUND (see presentation for additional detail):  Kent Gyle (Principal Engineer, Sonoma County 
Water Agency) reviewed the flooding problems and reminded people of the community meeting in 
February 2015 to discuss four alternatives to reduce flood risks. Kent summarized community concerns 
with those alternatives, and said that the Water Agency and City went back to the drawing board to 
develop three new alternatives that met the objectives of (1) reducing flood risk on First Street West 
and (2) not increasing flooding downstream. He noted that the Water Agency and City were awarded a 
$1.9 million Proposition 1E grant for reducing flood risks for a prior project that didn’t pan out. The 
California Department of Water Resources has allowed the Water Agency to modify the project concept 
to reduce flooding on First Street West, but an alternative must be chosen and the project started in 
order to secure the grant. 
 
PROJECT ALTERNATIVES (see presentation for details):  Greg Guensch (engineer and project manager, 
Sonoma County Water Agency) described the three alternatives, which include (1) a 6-acre foot 
underground detention basin and some channel improvements; (2) a 3-acre foot underground detention 
basin with a 54” pipeline, bike/pedestrian path and bioswale; and (3) a 3-acre foot underground 
detention basin with some channel improvements. He discussed the pros/ cons and costs of each 
alternative. 
 
HYDROLOGY MODELING (see presentation for details):  Carlos Diaz (engineer, ESA) described the model 
used to determine the level of flood protection that would be provided by each alternative. Alternative 
1 provides protection during the 100-year flood (a flood that has a 1 percent likelihood of occurring in 
any given year) while alternatives 2 and 3 provide protection during a 25-year flood (a flood that has a 
4% chance of occurring in any given year). 
 
PUBLIC WORKS PERSPECTIVE (see presentation for details):  Dan Takasugi (City Engineer, City of 
Sonoma) provided a staff perspective, noting that city maintenance workers needed to clean the trash 
rack continuously during storms in order to prevent channel overflow flooding. This placed workers in a 
dangerous situation and, because workers were often needed in other areas of the city, resulted in 
flooding on First Street West and in the Plaza.  Alternative 2 is city staff’s preferred alternative because 
by closing the channel and eliminating the trash rack problem, it enhanced safety for city workers and 
the public. He also noted that the bioswale would provide environmental benefits and that the path 
would enhance safety for walkers and cyclists. 
 



 

2 
 

PUBLIC COMMENTS/QUESTIONS: Below is a summary of the comments and questions provided by the 
community members who attended the meeting. 
 
On Flooding: 
A lifelong neighborhood resident noted that flooding on First Street West isn’t bad. It is usually very 
shallow and vehicles can always pass.  Leave the historic look of the non-sidewalk on the east side of 1st 
Street West. 
 
On Bike/Pedestrian Path/Street Improvement: 
Several people noted that a path isn’t needed, and that people can walk on the other side of the street. 
STAFF RESPONSE: Although safe sidewalk exists on other side of street, people use east side frequently. 
This is a safety concern for the city. 
 
Will street improvements in Alternative 2 include parking? 
STAFF RESPONSE:  No. The improvements in Alternative 2 include bike/pedestrian path and bioswale, 
but no parking. 
 
Would the City need to acquire land to build the path? 
STAFF RESPONSE:  No. The path would be built over the existing channel (which would be diverted into 
an underground pipe). 
 
On Underground Detention Basin: 
What is the footprint of the basin? 
STAFF RESPONSE:  The underground basin would be built under the existing paved parking lot, plus 
under the adjacent overflow (dirt) lot. It would not interfere with the site of future Veteran’s Memorial. 
The basin would be 8-10 feet deep. 
 
How long would it take to build the basin? (The parking lot is heavily used by youth and adult sports 
teams.) 
STAFF RESPONSE:  Several months. It is likely that construction could be staged to allow some of the 
parking to be used during busy time. 
 
Concerns were raised about the diversion from the cemetery to the underground detention basin. People 
wondered whether it would cut through the redwoods, Infant Cemetery or Veteran’s Cemetery. 
STAFF RESPONSE:  The diversion would not disturb the cemeteries or the redwoods, but would likely use 
the roadway in the cemeteries and would be located east of the redwoods. 
 
For project with 6 acre feet of storage, can we expect similar amount of recharge?  
STAFF RESPONSE:  No.  There will be some recharge, however the facility will be designed to detain 
water during peak storm events and most of the water will flow out through the system. 
 
How will the flows at the diversion be split to go to the detention basin or to continue in the creek? 
STAFF RESPONSE:  An orifice will be used that will allow lower flows to remain in the channel. When 
flows are higher, they will be diverted with a weir to the detention basin. This is a passive system. 
 
For parking lot, consider using permeable pavement. 
STAFF RESPONSE: Yes, the City requires either permeable materials, bioswales, or filter strips.  Will need 
to work with County General Services.  The design is not developed to this level yet. 



 

3 
 

On Channel and Pipeline: 

Several neighbors voiced opposition to undergrounding the channel into a pipe. Comments included the 
historic nature of the creek; the fact that the channel was once lined with winery stones which prevented 
erosion and resulted in a larger pedestrian area; the environmental benefits of the creek, including frogs, 
flowers and cattails; country ambiance and aesthetics; and the loss of restoration possibilities. Concern 
was expressed about the possible diminishment of property values if the channel was removed. It was 
noted that the existing channel is 130 years old, and is historic. 
 
Another resident stated that many of the debris problems could be eliminated with the removal of the 
eucalyptus trees at Depot Park. He feels that the creek must be kept clear of debris to function and that 
the City’s lack of management and changes in maintenance duties over the years has caused the dis-
repair of the street and creek environs.  He also noted that the city’s use of backhoe has created erosion 
and widening of channel. 
STAFF RESPONSE: STAFF RESPONSE: Staff noted that it would be challenging to enhance the channel to 
create a meandering creek and maintain flood carrying capacity, due to the lack of space for channel 
setbacks (the existing channel width is between 10-12 feet). Restoration would involve additional space 
for meander and require gently sloped banks for stability. 
 
Is there an old redwood box culvert? 
STAFF RESPONSE:  There is a wooden box culvert at Depot Park, but it’s made of railroad ties. It was 
discovered to be in poor condition when exposed during the Depot Park bike trail project. 
 
Is it possible to create creek “meander” or bioswale/detention area in Depot Park? 
STAFF RESPONSE:  Using an area of Depot Park as a bioswale to slow down/sink water was proposed in 
February, but the community was opposed to converting a popular picnic/birthday party site into a 
detention area. That alternative was eliminated. 
 
Can the trash rack simply be removed? 
STAFF RESPONSE: No. If the trash rack was removed, people and animals could be swept into storm 
drain system. Also, lots of unwanted trash and debris would get into system. 
 
Two residents expressed support for Alternative 1 or 3. 
 
One former resident of the neighborhood lived near the trash rack, and stated that it was a safety 
problem.  She almost lost her car during one of the storms, with no safe access to move her car, and had 
to be rescued by the Police Department. 
 
On hydrologic modeling: 
Does the modeling take into account climate change? 
STAFF RESPONSE:  No. It’s likely that large storms could occur more frequently with climate change. 
 
Other Issues: 
Who is lead agency for project?  Will there be CEQA review and compliance?  When will this be 
determined? 
STAFF RESPONSE:  SCWA has been a lead thus far, with project partners, and will continue as the lead on 
the grant funding. Depending on what the project is, it may make sense for the City to be the lead.  The 



 

4 
 

Agency implementing the project would be the logical lead. Once a preferred project concept is 
identified, the CEQA analysis would begin. 
 
How will the alternatives effect city taxpayers? 
STAFF RESPONSE: The $1.9M grant contribution and 50% match from SCWA = $3.8M. The City would 
need to fund additional costs, which would be derived from gas tax and general fund. Under Alternative 
2, City funding would be primarily used for pavement rehabilitation of First St. West.  If no City money is 
contributed, could revert to Alternative 3.  
 
What is the City going to do to mitigate the flooding effects on businesses in this El Nino winter?  We 
need to think collectively as a community.  
STAFF RESPONSE: We have been cleaning all the drain inlets and swales around the City. City will supply 
sandbags and sand if we know a big storm is coming in.  That's all we can do without capital 
expenditures. For future storms, we have the Storm Drain Master Plan Capital Investment Project list 
that we chip away at, but those won’t be done in time to respond to this winter’s potential problems.  



CITY OF SONOMA 
 

RESOLUTION NO. ___- 2015 
 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF SONOMA APPROVING A PREFERRED ALTERNATIVE 
TO THE CITY WATERSHEDS PROPOSITION 1E GRANT 

FOR DRAINAGE IMPROVEMENTS 
 

 
WHEREAS, the City Watersheds Project (Phase I) is focused on benefitting the Fryer 

Creek subwatershed  within and around the City of Sonoma; 
 

WHEREAS, the Sonoma County Water Agency was successful in obtaining a 
$1,900,000 Proposition 1E grant from the State Department of Water Resources to address 
flood risks and recharge groundwater; 
 

WHEREAS, a groundwater recharge component of the project was considered for the 
Montini Open Space Preserve, but was ultimately rejected due to poor recharge value; 
 

WHEREAS, the State Department of Water Resources has allowed additional time for 
the project partners to develop a grant amendment which will attain flood reduction benefits;  

 
WHEREAS, public outreach meetings were noticed and held on February 4, 2015 and 

November 19, 2015 to address public concerns and questions; and 
 

WHEREAS, there are several safety and maintenance problems along First Street West, 
which could be resolved in conjunction with the City Watersheds project. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the City Council of the City of Sonoma 
approves a project alternative which provides flood improvements that will convey the 25-year 
storm event, removal of drainage channel constrictions, installation of underground culvert/pipe 
conveyance covered to grade, provision for pedestrian/bicycle accessibility, installation of low-
impact development features to capture/filter street stormwater runoff, and pavement 
rehabilitation of First Street West..  

 
ADOPTED this 7th day of December 2015 by the following vote: 

 
  AYES:    
  NOES:    
  ABSENT:  
 
       ________________________________ 
       David Cook, Mayor 
 
       ATTEST: 
 
       ________________________________ 
       Gay Johann, Assistant City Manager/City Clerk 



 

  

Department 

Administration 

Staff Contact 

 Gay Johann, Assistant City Manager/City Clerk 

Agenda Item Title 

Councilmembers’ Reports on Committee Activities. 

Summary 

Council members will report on activities, if any, of the various committees to which they are assigned. 

MAYOR COOK MPT  GALLIAN CLM. AGRIMONTI CLM. EDWARDS CLM.  HUNDLEY 

City Audit Committee ABAG Delegate North Bay Watershed 
Association 

ABAG Alternate Sonoma Clean Power Alt. 

City Facilities Committee Cittaslow Sonoma Valley 
Advisory Council, Alt. 

Sonoma County Health 
Action & SV Health 
Roundtable 

Cittaslow Sonoma Valley 
Advisory Council 

Sonoma County M & C 
Assoc. Legislative 
Committee 

LOCC North Bay Division 
Liaison 

City Audit Committee Sonoma County Trans. & 
Regional Climate Protection 
Authority, Alternate 

City Facilities Committee S. V. Citizens Advisory 
Commission 

Oversight Board to the 
Dissolved CDA 

LOCC North Bay Division 
Liaison, Alternate 

Sonoma County Waste 
Management Agency 

 S.V. Economic Dev. 
Steering Committee, Alt. 

Sonoma Clean Power 

 
Oversight Board to the 
Dissolved CDA, Alt. 

VOM Water District Ad Hoc 
Committee, Alternate 

 S. V. Library Advisory 
Committee, Alternate 

Sonoma County Mayors &  
Clm. Assoc. BOD 

Marin/Sonoma Mosquito & 
Vector Control District 

Water Advisory Committee, 
Alternate 

  

Sonoma Disaster Council Sonoma County Mayors &  
Clm. Assoc. BOD, Alt. 

   

Sonoma Housing 
Corporation 

Sonoma County M & C 
Assoc. Legislative 
Committee, Alt. 

   

Sonoma Valley Citizens 
Advisory Comm. Alt. 

Sonoma County Trans. 
Authority & Regional 
Climate Protection Authority 

   

S.V.C. Sanitation District 
BOD 

Sonoma Disaster Council, 
Alternate 

   

S.V. Economic Dev. 
Steering Committee 

Sonoma Housing 
Corporation 

   

S.V. Fire & Rescue 
Authority Oversight 
Committee 

S.V.C. Sanitation District 
BOD, Alt. 

    

S. V. Library Advisory 
Committee 

S.V. Fire & Rescue 
Authority Oversight 
Committee 

   

 Ag Preservation and Open 
Space (M & C Appointment) 

   

 VOM Water District Ad Hoc 
Committee 

   

 Water Advisory Committee    
 

Recommended Council Action – Receive Reports  

Attachments:  None 

 

Agenda Item:          9 

Meeting Date:         12/07/2015 
City of Sonoma 
City Council 
Agenda Item Summary 


	_120715 Council Agenda
	4B - Council Minutes
	5A- Successor Agency Minutes
	6A Sign Ordinance
	7A Council reorganization 2015
	7B Prop 1E Drainage Improvements
	AIS - City Watersheds Prop1E Amendment - 1st St West_12-7-15
	Supplemental_Report_Prop1E_Grant_Amend_FirstStWest_12-7-15
	City Watersheds 11-19-15 Meeting Notes
	Resolution_CityWatershedsProp1E_PreferredAlternative

	9 - Committee Reports 2015

